IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

NO. 2009-KA- 01034-COA

JEREMY NEAL PITTS

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GEORGE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JAMES L. DAVIS, III MSB Not Post Office Box 1839 Gulfport, MS 39502 Phone: 228.864.1588 Fax: 228.863.5008

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made so that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification of recusal:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS IN ERROR WHEN IT GRANTED (a) STATE'S JURY INSTRUCTION S-2 (elements instruction); (b) STATE'S JURY INSTRUCTION S-6B (self-defense).
- II. ERROR WAS COMMITTED BY THE TRIAL COURT, AND THE APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL, IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY WITH A PROPER MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION.
- III. THE APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- IV. THE EVIDENCE WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT THE APPELLANT OF DEPRAVED HEART MURDER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below:

On October 15, 2007, an Indictment charging deliberate design murder was returned against Jeremy Neal Pitts, in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi.

On April 28, 29, & 30, 2009, trial was held for Jeremy Pitts. On April 30, 2009, the trial concluded with a jury verdict and the return of a guilty verdict as to depraved heart murder. Final Judgment was entered by the trial court on April 30, 2009. [R.E. 105].

Following the State's announcement that it rested, and the presentation of the Appellant's case-in-chief, the Appellant requested that the trial court grant him a directed verdict; which was denied by the trial court judge. [Tr.280]

Pitts filed for a Motion for a New Trial and for JNOV. After consideration thereof, this motion was denied on June 26, 2009. [R.E. 135]. Notice of Appeal was filed on June 23, 2009.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS:

On October 15, 2007, Jeremy Neal Pitts was indicted for killing and murdering Matthew Joseph Rogers "with deliberate design to effect the death of Matthew Joseph Rogers". (CP 1). The Appellant contended the homicide was in self-defense. Without amending the indictment, the State offered a jury instruction, that the Appellant's trial counsel did not object to, requesting the jury to consider convicting the Appellant of a"depraved heart murder", a crime that the Appellant was not indicted for and the State never amended or moved to amend its indictment and charge him with this crime. The jury verdict read as follows:

"We, the jury, find the Defendant, Jeremy Neal Pitts, Guilty of depraved heart murder" (CP 104).

The Court sentenced the Appellant to a life sentence (CP 105). A Motion for New Trial was filed and on June 18, 2008, was argued and overruled (CP 135, TR 307).

The Appellant, Jeremy Neal Pitts, was indicted for a "deliberate design murder". No motions to amend this indictment, formally or ore tenus, were ever made. The Appellant's trial counsel did file a suggestion of incompetency (CP 31), but a subsequent evaluation by psychologist Chris Lock was performed, finding the Appellant competent to stand trial and competent to assist his counsel. This motion was subsequently withdrawn (TR 25). The Appellant's counsel, prior to jury selection, did move that the Court instruct the District Attorney's Office not to question prospective jurors about gang activity (TR 12). The trial court indicated it had prior knowledge about the facts of the case and how "gang activity" was involved because of a co-defendant's plea, and the Appellant's attorney requested that the judge recuse himself (TR 17). Both of these motions were subsequently overruled. (TR 22). During voir dire, the Court limited the State as to what they could say concerning the Appellant's gang affiliation or gang activity, but the State renewed its motion prior to trial and the trial court relied on Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996) and felt some gang testimony is permissible under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rule 404(b). (TR 34). The District Attorney, in his opening statement, pointed out that the Appellant was a member of the Simon City Royals, a gang "that had just started up here in George County"

(TR 41). The Appellant's attorney moved for a mistrial and was overruled. The District Attorney made further comments about the Simon City Royals and the Appellant's attorney made another motion for a mistrial, then asked for a continuing objection to the reference to the Simon City Royals and the gang activity. (TR 41).

The Appellant's attorney, in his opening statement, tried to introduce a six-page letter written by the Appellant which was an apology to the victim's parents (TR 47) and to which the State objected, and it was not allowed to be introduced.

The State offered the following witnesses at trial:

LINDA ROGERS

Linda Rogers was the decedent's mother. She had almost no relevant testimony whatsoever, except to try to inflame the jury so they would be prejudiced against the Appellant. She pointed out that her husband was a pastor, and identified some pictures of her son. She stated that both she and her husband greatly loved their son and "he was his heart. He was his only son." (TR 52). No objection to Mrs. Rogers' testifying or any motion in limine was filed by the Appellant's attorney to limit her testimony. The Appellant's attorney attempted at trial to introduce the six-page letter that the Appellant wrote to the victim's parents, but it was objected to and not allowed to be introduced. (TR 61-62).

JAMES D. MITCHELL

On April 2, 2007, Deputy Mitchell was one of the first responders to a call from 3148 Old Mobile Highway in George County, Mississippi. Upon approaching the house they found Ray Hancock in the front yard on a cell phone yelling "upstairs, upstairs, he's got a gun, he's got a gun" (TR 69). Deputy Mitchell indicated they announced 'sheriff's department' and went from room to room with their guns drawn. Deputy Mitchell went upstairs and found the victim's body in the third room upstairs with blood around him. (TR 75-76).

STEVE HANEY

Pathologist Steve Haney was offered as an expert in the field of forensic pathology and was allowed to testify with no objection by the Appellant's attorney and without being voir dired at all concerning his qualifications (TR 89). Dr. Haney testified that the victim died of a gunshot wound to the left shoulder which went through his left lung, aorta, esophagus, and right lung. (TR 97-98).

DANIEL RAY HANCOCK

Ray Hancock is the individual who lived at 3148 Old Mobile Highway in George County, Mississippi. He was a member of the Simon City Royals (TR 101-102) and testified that the victim, Matthew Rogers, was a member and that the Appellant, Jeremy Pitts, was also a member and was "ace trey five", and that he knew Jeremy Pitts shot Matthew Rogers. (TR 103). Jay Bullock was the leader of the Simon City Royals. (TR 104). The victim had been asked to "lay down his flag", which means leave the organization, and the victim refused to leave the organization. (TR 104). The victim's name was Hollywood or "Wood" and he requested to be "called out for minutes", which meant that all the members would get into a circle and any animosity you might have for each other would be resolved by fighting. (Tr 105). Gang documents were introduced that had the signatures of the Appellant and the victim. (TR 109). Hancock pointed out that the Simon City Royals are affiliated with the Gangster Disciples and the State was repeatedly allowed to argue, similar to testifying, that the motive behind the entire killing was gang related and this was all done in the presence of the jury. (TR 113-115). After all of these comments were made in the presence of the jury, the Court even questioned how long the gang had been here, who was in it, bordering on sensationalism. (Tr 117). This occurred after the State had introduced most of this as evidence in the presence of the jury, with no objection by the Appellant's attorney, Hancock discussed a conversation he had with the victim on the day of the shooting. (TR 129). It was Hancock's understanding that Jay Bullock and the victim were going to "go minutes", which means fighting, and the Appellant showed up at the house. (TR 134). The Appellant got into an argument with the victim and the Appellant shot the victim. (TR 134). Hancock admitted that at the time of the shooting he had the victim's pistol. (TR 134). Hancock admitted he pled guilty to manslaughter and received twenty years, eighteen to serve, two years post release supervision (TR 139). Hancock admitted that the victim, Matthew Rogers, had a criminal history for assaulting an old man. (TR 149). Hancock admitted he joined the Simon City Royals when he was in prison serving a sentence for burglary. (TR 150).

AMY MARTIN HANCOCK

Amy Hancock admitted she was married to Ray Hancock and she lived at the same address on Old Mobile Highway. (TR 153-154). She testified about a hearsay conversation between the victim and her husband concerning the victim's gun. (TR 158). She claimed Mr. Pitts showed up and said "MF, I got a beef with you " (Tr 158-159). Mrs. Hancock admitted she lied to law enforcement, though when she gave her reason for first lying to law enforcement but later telling the truth, she said "because Jeremy was in jail then. Then I felt like I could go tell the truth." The District Attorney then asked her, "So you felt safe at that point?" She responded affirmatively. (TR 161). This exchange was had with no objection from the Appellant's attorney.

KEVIN DAVIS

Mr. Davis admitted he pled guilty to manslaughter and that on April 2, 2007, he went over to Mr. Hancock's house to violate Mr. Rogers because he was a member of the Simon City Royals (TR. 167). He was then questioned about a hearsay conversation he had with the victim, where the victim asked him was Mr. Pitts at Mr. Hancock's home. No objection was made by the Appellant's attorney. Davis "reckoned he was worried about Pitts being over there". (Tr 168-169). Davis indicated that Jeremy Pitts walked in, they started arguing, and Pitts shot Rogers. (TR 170). Davis further claimed he and Pitts went and picked up Jay Bullock, and Pitts admitted to shooting Rogers, and Bullock told him "that's what he gets". (TR 171). Then the Appellant's attorney reiterated the point that Davis had talked to the victim and the victim was concerned about the Appellant being at Hancock's house on Old Mobile Highway before he showed up. (TR 174). No objection was made by Appellant's counsel about the hearsay conversation between the victim and witness Davis. Davis pointed out that Rogers had threatened Appellant Pitts the night before. (TR 179).

JOHN ANTHONY KEEL

Keel was a George County Sheriff's Deputy who arrived with Deputy Mitchell. He said Ray Hancock was outside in a panic state, stating "he's got a gun, he's upstairs, Matt Rogers is upstairs and he's got a gun" (TR 183). Deputy Keel testified concerning all the various statements that all of the witnesses, Ray Hancock, Amy Hancock, and Kevin Davis, had given to him and the contents of these statements with no objection from the Appellant's attorney. (TR 190-191). With no objection from the Appellant's attorney, and no pre-trial motion to suppress, the Appellant's statement was offered into evidence. For the first hour of the Appellant's statement, he would not admit to anything. Then the

deputies and the sheriff himself made the following expressed and implied promises of

leniency to the Appellant:

KEEL:

It boils down to this, were you deceitful and led us down the wrong path or did you cooperate with the investigation? It makes a difference. Did you cooperate and did you help law enforcement? Were you forthcoming and did you give truthful statements? Or did you withhold information? Did you not tell the truth?

KEEL:

If you don't tell your story and all these other people tell it, you know how it's gonna make you look when you get upstairs to go to court? You know how it's gonna look?

SHERIFF WELFORD:

I mean I - I know you - you - you know I told you when you came in, you done the right thing by doing this. If you came in here to not talk to us then you're not gonna help yourself a whole lot because they're gonna saddle you with this whole thing if you don't - if you don't help us out a little bit, son. I - I just, you know, you gotta help yourself.

SHERIFF WELFORD:

... And basically *I* want you to help yourself. *I* want you to help yourself. You know?... Uh, do something to help yourself or either you gonna have a whole (unintelligible) on your shoulders son 'cuz they - they're draggin' you down.

SHERIFF WELFORD:

We as the Sheriff's Department at some point in time, if you - if you tell me the truth and it was a self-defense thing, if it was self-defense we're gonna take what you tell us before a grand jury in George County, you know?... You know, there's different levels of killing people. With all of these expressed and implied promises of leniency throughout his statement, the Appellant's attorney did not even file a pre-trial motion to suppress same and did not request a hearing to suppress the statement. The statement was played in its entirety to the jury. (Exhibit #21, TR 194). This statement was used to impeach the Appellant's testimony greatly when he testified and it was clearly involuntary. The District Attorney asked the Appellant more than fifteen (15) times questions starting with "Didn't you tell the police ...". (TR 244, 245, 246, 247, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 259, 260, 264, 266 and 267). With no objection from the Appellant's attorney, the District Attorney asked Deputy Keel, other than the Defendant, "Did anybody tell you Matthew Rogers had a gun at the time of the shooting?" The deputy responded no. (TR 202).

After Deputy Keel testified, the State rested. (TR 209). The Appellant's attorney called Jay Bullock, who invoked his 5^{th} Amendment right to remain silent and did not answer any questions. (TR 211-215). The Appellant then took the stand himself.

JEREMY NEAL PITTS

The Appellant testified that he did not mean to kill the victim at the time of the shooting, and that the victim went for a gun and he fired once at the victim's shoulder, not meaning to kill him. He did not feel like he had greatly injured Rogers, and he left the home on Old Mobile Highway. (TR 221-224). Pitts voluntarily went to the Sheriff's Department and turned himself in. (TR 224).

Most of the cross-examination by the District Attorney's Office was about the Appellant's activity as a Simon City Royal. (TR 226- 237). The first question the District Attorney asked the Appellant was "Are you a Simon City Royal?" (TR 226). The remainder of the questioning was impeaching the Appellant with his previous statement, which was

the result of expressed or implied promises of leniency from the George County Sheriff's

Department, and was clearly involuntary.

After the Appellant testified, the defense rested.

Appellant's attorney renewed his Motion for Directed Verdict, which he made at the

close of the State's case. (TR 209 and 280).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court was in error when it allowed the State to submit an elements instructions which contained depraved heart murder, when the Appellant was indicted for deliberate design murder only. The Appellant Court should review its opinions utilizing the coalescing language of *Windham v. State*, 602 So.2d 798 (Miss.1992), and, *Mallet v. State*, 606 So.2d 1092 (Miss.1992), and return to the traditional view of M.C.A. 97-3-19(1)(a) & (b). In addition, it was error for the trial court to grant the State's instruction on self-defense which did not conform to the approved language of *Robinson v. State*, 434 So.2d 206 (Miss.1983) and *Reddix v. State*, 731 So.2d 591 (Miss.1999).
- II. The Appellant's trial counsel, as well as the trial court, should have instructed the jury on involuntary manslaughter, imperfect self-defense or culpable negligence manslaughter. To not do so, given the evidence which had been presented to the jury, was error.
- III. The Appellant's trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel, pursuant to the two-prong test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), which resulted in the Appellant's conviction for depraved heart murder.
- IV. The evidence is legally insufficient to convict the Appellant of depraved heart murder. At most, the evidence would support only a conviction for manslaughter.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS IN ERROR WHEN IT GRANTED (a) STATE'S JURY INSTRUCTION S-2 (elements instruction); (b) STATE'S JURY INSTRUCTION S-6B (self-defense).

There were numerous jury instructions offered by both the State and the Appellant's trial counsel. A review of the record indicates that Appellant's trial counsel had no objection to any of the instructions discussed, even those that were incorrect/incomplete statements of the law, such as D-1and S-6. A list of the pertinent jury instructions presented to the trial court are:

- S-2¹ State's instruction which set forth the elements for both deliberate design murder and depraved heart murder(M.C.A. \$19-3-19(1)(a) & (b) (Tr.282, no objection)
- S-4² State's elements instruction for heat of passion manslaughter (Tr.282, no objection)
- D-3 Appellant's elements instruction for heat of passion manslaughter (Tr.286)
- S-6³ State's self-defense instruction (Tr.283, no objection)
- D-1 Appellant's self-defense instruction (identical to S-6)
- S-6A⁴ State's self-defense instruction (Tr.288, no objection)
- S-6B⁵ State's self-defense instruction

¹Jury Instruction 2.

 2 S-4 was ultimately refused by the trial court. (Tr.286)

 3 S-6 does not contain the language required by *Reddix v. State*, 731 So.2d 591,595 ¶¶20-21 (Miss.1999). (Tr.285; D-1 was withdrawn). See R.E. #

⁴S-6A does contain the language required by *Reddix*, supra.

⁵ Jury Instruction 3. Identical to S-6A <u>but</u> changes the word "murder" to "killing".

- S-7⁶ (from the record it appears that this was a deliberate design instruction)
- S-7A Definitions for malice, deliberate design, design.
- S-8 Definition for heat of passion.

A culpable negligence manslaughter instruction was not requested by the Appellant's trial counsel, nor was one suggested by either the trial court or the State. The trial court did comment during the jury charge conference that it felt like an imperfect self-defense manslaughter instruction may be warranted. There was no response to the trial court's suggestion of giving this instruction; although, the State and Appellant's trial counsel did submit a heat of passion manslaughter. (Tr. 282).

Standard of Review:

The following standard of review is used by the Appellate Court when an objection

is made to a jury instruction which was given or refused by the trial court:

Jury instructions are to be read together and taken as a whole with no one instruction taken out of context. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. (citations omitted)

Harris v. State, 861 So.2d 1003,1012 (¶18) (Miss.2003); Austin v. State, 784 So.2d 186,192 (Miss.2001).

The Appellant requests that the Appellate Court review the complained of jury instructions given to the jury under the plain error doctrine as his trial counsel failed to preserve any errors regarding jury instructions in the record. Further, that these errors were of such magnitude that they affected the substantive and fundamental rights of the

⁶The form of this instruction was refused by the trial court; however, Appellant's trial counsel had no objection to it. (Tr.283)

Appellant. See, Jackson v. State, 815 So.2d 1196,1199 (¶4) (Miss.2002); Snow v. State, 800

So.2d 472,483 (¶34) (Miss.2001). This Court has also held:

We again hold that when the circuit court grants instructions clearly erroneous and which deny the accused a fair and objective evaluation of the evidence by the jury, we will reverse, even though there was no objection by defense counsel. *McMullen v. State*, 291 So.2d 537, 541 (Miss.1974). A circuit judge has a responsibility to see that the jury is properly instructed. *Peterson v. State*, 518 So.2d 632, 637-638 (1987); *Harper v. State*, 478 So.2d 1017, 1018, 1022-1023 (Miss.1985); *Newell v. State*, 308 So.2d 71, 78 (Miss.1975).

Duvall v. State, 634 So.2d 524,525-26 (Miss.1994).

<u>Analysis</u>:

A. Jury Instruction 2 (S-2) - Elements Instruction:

The Appellant was indicted for committing a killing with deliberate design. (CP 1). However, during the jury charge conference the State submitted S- 2^7 which contained the elements of deliberate design murder, as well as, depraved heart murder pursuant to M.C.A. §97-3-19 (1)(a) & (b).

There have been numerous cases considered by the Appellate Courts involving the same issue complained of now by the Appellant. A review of some of these cases would seemingly provide a quick answer to the Appellant's suggestion of error here, i.e.:

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