IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JEREMY NEIL PITTS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1034-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. This issue was waived for failure to even raise it with the trial court. R. 281-287; C.P. 111-112. Gollott v. State, 672 So. 2d 744, 752 (Miss. 1996). It is also not "plain error." Morgan v. State, 793 So.2d 615, 617 (Miss. 2001)

The record reflects that the jury were properly instructed. C.P. 84-93; 97-99. Pitts was given jury instructions for heat of passion manslaughter, and self defense as he requested. C.P. 96; 98. There was no objection to jury instruction S-2 which included the elements for both deliberate design and depraved heart murder. R. 282-285; C. P. 88-89. The appellee believes that this combined elements instruction for murder was proper given the testimony in the record. R. 282. Young v. State, 891 So. 2d 813, 820 (¶17) (Miss. 2005).

Mr. Pitts testified before the jury that he was afraid the victim "might shoot him." R.221-222. Mr. Rogers was reaching for a gun someone else had near him. R. 221-222. See state's exhibit 23 in manila envelop marked "Exhibits" for drawing of crime scene by Mr. Pitts. R. 274-275.

There were some four people present when the victim was shot. R. 156-157. **Young, supra.** Nevertheless, since Pitts claimed to be fearful of being harmed, he was given jury instructions for self defense, and heat of passion manslaughter. R. 221-222.

The record reflects that Pitts' counsel requested a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. This was in Mr. Pitts' presence. R. 282. Therefore, this issue was both waived as well as lacking in merit.

2. This issue was also waived for failure to raise it with the trial court. R. 281-287; C.P. 111-112.. **Russell v. State**, 607 So. 2d 1107, 1117 (Miss. 1993). It is also lacking in merit. Pitts requested a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. R. 282. When given an opportunity, Pitts did not request

an imperfect self defense instruction or a culpable negligence manslaughter instruction. R. 282-287.

He would not be entitled to a culpable negligence instruction since he never claimed and there was no evidence that the shooting was an accident. **Taylor v. State**, 597 So. 2d 192, 195 (Miss. 1992). Pitts admitted to intending to shot the victim. R. 221-222.

In his pre-trial statements to law enforcement, Pitts spoke of being afraid of the allegedly violence prone victim. He claimed the victim was reaching for a weapon when he shot him in self defense. State's exhibit 22, page 305.

In addition, Pitts testified that the victim did not have a weapon "only after" co-defendant eyewitnesses had testified. They testified that the victim was unarmed. R. 136;159. Rather the victim had given his handgun to Ray Hancock. Hancock was present with Pitts, when the victim was shot. Mr. Pitts admitted that after the shooting, Hancock gave him the other handgun. He left with the crime scene with both guns. R. 223. Pitts testified to throwing them into a river when he left George County. R. 223. They were never recovered by investigators.

3. There was neither evidence of deficient performance or prejudice to Pitts's defense to the murder charge, given the evidence against Pitts, his admissions before trial, and his testimony before the jury in which he contradicted himself more than once. R. 216-279.

There is no evidence in support of Pitts allegedly wanting jury instructions for imperfect self defense. R. 282-283. The request for one jury instruction rather than another was presumed to be a matter of "trial strategy" by defense counsel. **Scott v. State**, 742 So. 2d 1190, 1196 (¶14) (Miss. C. A. 2006). Testimony about gang activity is admissible where relevant and probative to an understanding of the charges as it was in this case. **Hoops v. State** 681 So.2d 521, 533 (Miss. 1996). 4. There was credible, substantial corroborated evidence in support of Pitts' conviction for depraved heart murder. **McClain v. State**, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). Mr. Pitts admitted before the

trial and before the jury that he shot Rogers, but merely denied intending to kill him.

Since Mr. Pitts admitted to shooting the victim, there was no basis for an instruction based upon an accident. Since Pitts admitted there were others present when the victim was shot, the appellee believes that an instruction for deprayed heart murder was proper. R. 221-222. Young, supra.

Since Pitts testified to being afraid the victim would kill him, there was a basis for a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. Pitts testified about the victim's alleged history of violence, possession of firearms, and his having allegedly threatened Pitts the night before the murder. R. 220. The record also reflects that a manslaughter and self defense instructions were requested by Pitts, and granted by the trial court. R. 282; 285. C.P. 102.

Mr. Pitts was not denied a fair trial by jury instructions he never requested, or by an insufficiently effective or active trial counsel. Rather Mr. Pitts had every opportunity to defend himself. He chose to waive his **Miranda** rights knowingly and intelligently, and then proceeded to contradict himself more than once, both before and during his trial. The jury did not find him a credible witness in his own defense. **Neal v. State**, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984).

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED AND IS ALSO LACKING IN MERIT.

Mr. Pitts argues that the trial court erred in not providing proper jury instructions in his case. Pitts argues that jury instruction S-2 on the elements of murder was in error. C.P. 88-89. He does not think that "depraved heart murder" should have been included in the same instruction for "deliberate design murder." C.P. 96. He also thinks that jury instruction S-6B, the self defense instruction, was erroneous. It stated that the defendant must have grounds to fear a design "of some person" to kill him, rather than specifically a design "of the victim" to kill him. Appellant's brief page 15-29.

To the contrary, the record reflects that these jury instruction related issues were waived. They were waived for failure to object or even raise these issues with the trial court. R. 281-287; C.P. 111.

In **Nicholson / Gollott v. State**, 672 So. 2d 744, 752 (Miss. 1996), the Court stated that failure to object to a jury instruction waived that issue on appeal.

This Court does not review jury instructions in isolation. **Malone v. State**, 486 So. 2d 360, 365 (Miss. 1986). If the instructions given provide correct statements of the law and are supported by the evidence, there is no prejudice to the defendant. **Sanders v. State**, 313 So. 2d 398, 401 (Miss. 1975). This Court has fully examined the instructions granted by the trial court in the case sub judice and finds that, taken together, the jury was correctly and completely charged.

Regarding the instructions Galled claims the trial Court erroneously refused, Gollott failed to object to the refusal of D-4. As a result, this Court is not bound to address the alleged error on appeal. Locket v. State, 517 So. 2d 1317, 1332-33 (Miss. 1987), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1210, 108 S. Ct. 2858, 101 L. Ed 895 (1988). Instruction D-11, which was also refused by the trial court, defines "willful" and "intent." This Court has specifically stated that trial courts need not grant defendant's instructions defining "willful," as that definition is a matter of interpretation for the jury. Ramon v. State, 387 So. 2d 745, 751 (Miss. 1980). Instruction S-1 provided the jury with a correct definition of "intent" and the trial courts are under no obligation to grant

cumulative instructions. Medley v. State, 600 So. 2d 957, 962 (Miss. 1992).

In addition, the granting of the jury instructions as contained in the record was not "plain error" that substantially effected the Constitutional rights of Mr. Pitts.

In **Morgan v. State**, 793 So.2d 615, 617 (Miss. 2001), the Supreme court found that unless there were errors so egregious as to result in a fundamental miscarriage of justice they would not be considered "plain error."

¶ 9. The plain error rule is codified in Miss. R. Evid. 103(d). It provides that nothing precludes the Court from taking notice of plain errors affecting the substantial rights of a defendant, even though they were not brought to the attention of the trial court. If a party persuades the court of the substantial injustice that would occur if the rule were not invoked, the court may invoke the rule. See Edwards v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 512 F.2d 276 (5th Cir.1975). "Only an error so fundamental that it generates a miscarriage of justice rises to the level of plain error," however. Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss.1989); Cohn & Nagel (AG & Co.) v. Guesswork, Inc., 874 F.2d 283, 292 (5th Cir.1989).

The appellee believes the record reflects that the jury was properly instruction on the elements of murder as well as on the lesser offense of manslaughter. C.P. 88-89; 96. The record reflects that Pitts claimed in his pre-trial statement to law enforcement that he acted in self defense. See defense exhibit 4, and 22 at page 305 for Pitts' statement at the George County Sheriff's office on April 3, 2007. He claimed that the victim was armed, and he shot him when he saw him "pulling out" a handgun from his waistband.

In defense exhibit 2, Pitts' letter to the victim's family, he admitted to shooting the victim in the shoulder but not intending to kill him. Pitts claimed he died allegedly because someone else, Mr. Ray Hancock, could not or did not get the victim the medical care he needed to stop his bleeding.

However, in his testimony before the jury, Mr. Pitts admitted that he went to the scene to confront or "fight" Mr. Rogers. R. 252. He claimed Rogers was armed, and had previously

threatened to kill him "the night before." R. 220. He also admitted reluctantly that the victim, Matthew Rogers, was not armed when he was shot "in the shoulder." R. 221-222.

However, this happened only after Mr. Ray Hancock, and other eye witness to this tragedy, testified that Rogers was unarmed. This was when Pitts shot him. This was allegedly during an argument. R.136; 170-171. Nevertheless, Pitts insisted, as he had before trial, that when he shot Rogers he was afraid for his own life. R. 222. Mr. Pitts insisted, prior to trial and before the jury that the victim had a reputation for violence and was a previously convicted felon. R. 225-226.

The record reflects that Mr. Pitts gave inconsistent statements to investigators prior to trial. Pitts initially denied knowing anything about the charges or being present when the shooting occurred at Hancock's families house. Exhibit 21, beginning portions of CD, and 22, page 258. However, when he realized what investigators were learning from their investigation, he admitted to being present and to shooting the victim. However, initially this was based upon the victim alleged "reaching" for a handgun when he was shot. Exhibit 22, page 290-291.

After eye witness Ray and Amy Hancock testified that the victim was not armed when shot, Pitts admitted reluctantly that when shot Rogers was not armed. R. 221-222. However, he had previously been armed and was reaching for his handgun near him. It was allegedly the victim's weapon, but in the possession of Hancock who was standing near him.

Mr. Davis testified that he left the scene of the crime with Pitts in his car. When Pitts informed the leader of the Simon City Royals, Mr. Bullock, that he had "just shot Mr. Rogers", Bullock stated, "that's what he gets." R. 171.

In **Readus v. State** 997 So.2d 941, 944 (Miss. App. 2008), the Court relied upon **Lett v. State**, 902 So.2d at 637(¶21) (Miss. C.A. 2005), in finding that deliberate design murder and depraved heart murder are not mutually exclusive.

There was evidence that Readus fired a handgun inside an apartment which contained his wife, who was killed, and several children. They were not armed. The Court found this was sufficient evidence for granting a deprayed heart murder instruction.

¶ 11. We are unable to accept Readus's argument that the State failed to produce evidence showing that he was guilty of either deliberate design murder or depraved heart murder. The State produced evidence showing Readus was the person who shot Marlow and shot and killed Sherry. In fact, Reads himself admitted that he perpetrated the shooting. At the very least, the State produced evidence of depraved heart murder by establishing that while Readus was engaged in an argument with his wife, he fired shots inside an apartment that contained unarmed individuals and several children. The classic example of depraved heart murder is shooting into a crowd of people. Lett, 902 So.2d at 637(¶ 21). It is within the province of the jury to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence based on their experience and common sense. Lewis v. State, 573 So.2d 719, 723 n. 2 (Miss.1990). We find that Readus's argument is without merit.

In **Young v. State**, 891 So.2d 813, 820 (¶17) (Miss. 2005) the Supreme Court did not find error in granting a depraved heard jury instruction. Young had been indicted, like Pitts, for deliberate design murder.

¶ 17. Regarding instruction S-1a, Young argues that the trial court erred when it allowed a "depraved heart murder" clause to be added to the deliberate design instruction. Because the indictment was for deliberate design, Young claimed that this was akin to amending the indictment and specifically objected to it because they were not informed of it by the indictment. In **Mallett v. State**, 606 So.2d 1092, 1095 (Miss.1992), this Court approved just such an instruction, holding that "as a matter of common sense, every murder committed with deliberate design is by definition done in the commission of an act imminently dangerous to others, evincing a depraved heart." This conclusion was based on the fact that "[t]hese two versions of murder are taken straight from the statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19 (Supp.1987)" and "[o]ur cases have for all practical purposes coalesced the two so that Section 97-3-19(1)(b) subsumes (1)(a)." Id. There is no error here.

The appellee would submit that, given the presence of other persons near the victim, the jury was instructed properly on the elements of murder. R. 156-157.

There was a factual basis for S-6b self defense instruction including the language "to

apprehend a design on the part of some person to kill him..."C.P. 96. The record reflects that there were four persons in the room when the victim was shot. R. 156-157. The victim's handgun was near the victim in the possession of Mr. Hancock. Pitts' testimony was that the victim was reaching toward the gun when he was shot. R. 221-222.

Mr. Pitts testified in his own behalf. R. 216-279. His testimony provided a basis for a heat of passion manslaughter and a self defense instructions which he requested and was given. C.P. 96;97; 103. The appellee would submit, given the record cited, the jury instructions did not interfere with Pitts' defense to the charge or the fairness of his trial.

This issue was not only waived, it was lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED AND IS ALSO LACKING IN MERIT.

Mr. Pitts argued that he was denied a proper defense by not having a jury instruction granted for an imperfect self defense instruction. While admitting that he was given manslaughter instructions, he argues that he should have been given this alternative variation for self defense. He also claimed the trial court stated that Pitts was entitled to an imperfect self defense instruction. Appellant's page 29-34.

This issue was also waived for failure to object or to even raise it with the trial court. R. 282. C.P. 111. Gollott, supra.

Contrary to assertions by appeal counsel, the record clearly indicates that counsel for Mr. Pitts requested and was granted a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. D-3. Brief page 24; R. 282; 285. C.P. 102.

Lawrence: Your Honor, that is a manslaughter instruction for heat of passion. Mr. Shaddock told me he wanted one, so that's why I did it. His, I think, is almost exactly the same, and I think we've agree just to submit this one. But I want the record to show that the defense wants a manslaughter instruction.

Shaddock: I do. R. 282.

Court: Well, I think it would be appropriate. If the jury were to decide that the basis upon which Mr. Pitts feared for his life was an imperfect self defense, a manslaughter instruction would be appropriate. And y'all agree that this should be given? Mr. Shaddock?

Shaddock: I do. R. 282. (Emphasis by appellee).

Additionally, the trial court did not state that Pitts was entitled to an imperfect self defense instruction, rather he mentioned it when the prosecution wanted the record to reflect that Pitts, through counsel, was requesting a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. R. 282. Pitts was

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